



National Center of Competence in Research – The Migration-Mobility Nexus

nccr-onthemove.ch

# Lisa Marie Borrelli (HES-SO Valais), Daniel Hedlund (Stockholm University), Livia Johannesson (Stockholm University), Annika Lindberg (HES-SO Valais and University of Gothenburg)

# Border Bureaucracies: A Literature Review of Discretion in Migration Control

The nccr – on the move is the National Center of Competence in Research (NCCR) for migration and mobility studies. It aims to enhance the understanding of contemporary phenomena related to migration and mobility in Switzerland and beyond. Connecting disciplines, the NCCR brings together research from the social sciences, economics and law. Managed from the University of Neuchâtel, the network comprises seventeen research projects at eleven universities in Switzerland: The Universities of Basel, Fribourg, Geneva, Lausanne, Lucerne, Neuchâtel, Zurich, ETH Zurich, the Graduate Institute Geneva, the University of Applied Sciences and Arts of Western Switzerland, and the University of Applied Sciences and Arts of Northwestern Switzerland.

The Working Papers Series is an online platform for academic debates by members and cooperating partners of the nccr – on the move. The authors are responsible for the analyses and arguments, which do not necessarily reflect those of the nccr – on the move.

nccr – on the move, University of Neuchâtel, Rue Abram-Louis-Breguet 2, 2000 Neuchâtel, Switzerland Contact for the Working Paper Series: <u>info@nccr-onthemove.ch</u>



### **Abstract**

This literature review summarizes findings from 63 articles published between 2001 and 2020 that study discretion of frontline workers at migration control. The results demonstrate that discretionary practices in various migration control situations (e.g., border zones, migration agencies, courts, public welfare services, and detention centers) are widespread but share common patterns. Frontline workers' racialized prejudices and perceptions of migrant deservingness were the most dominant patterns found in the data, although there were some disagreements about which were most influential. Discretion of frontline workers was described as foremost detrimental to migrants, as it amplified the migrants' vulnerable situations, even if it occasionally could increase individual migrants' room for agency and strategic maneuvering. Contrary to the assumption underpinning the control gap-thesis in immigration policy literature that governments' capacity to control migration is hampered by the significant discretion at the frontlines, many studies in our sample describe how governments shape the discretionary practices of frontline workers through informal, subtle, and opaque governing strategies. These informal governing strategies enable central governments to deflect responsibility for discriminatory and inhumane policy outcomes.

### Keywords

Discretion, literature review, migration control, Street-Level Organizations, frontline workers, state power, deservingness, racialized suspicion

### Acknowledgments

We thank the anonymous reviewer for a through feedback and the nccr – on the move for their support in producing this working paper.

### **Contacts**

### <u>lisa.borrelli@hevs.ch</u>

Institute of Social Work, HES-SO Valais-Wallis, Route de la Plaine 2, 3960 Sierre

### daniel.hedlund@socarb.su.se

Department of Social Work, Stockholm University, 106 91 Stockholm

### livia.johannesson@score.su.se

Stockholm Centre for Organizational Research (SCORE), Stockholm University, Frescativägen 14 A, 106 91 Stockholm

### annika.lindberg@hes-so.ch

Institute of Social Work, HES-SO Valais-Wallis, Route de la Plaine 2, 3960 Sierre

### **Contents**

1	Introduction	5
2	Conceptualizing Discretion within Migration Control	7
2.1	Initial coding of Decision-Making Situations within Migration Control:	
	Welfare, Legal Status, and Territorial Control	8
3	Methodology: Literature Review and the Resulting Corpus	10
3.1	Inclusion Criteria	10
3.2	Identification	11
3.3	Screening	11
3.4	Quantitative Coding	11
3.5	Qualitative Analysis	12
4	Results: Discretion in Migration Control Research	12
4.1	Background Characteristics	12
4.2	Decisions on Access to Welfare Services	13
4.3	Decisions on Legal Status	14
4.4	Decisions on Territorial Control	16
5	Concluding Discussion	18
5.1	Patterns of Discretionary Practices: Between Perceptions of	
	"Deservingness" and Racialized Suspicions	18
5.2	Consequences for Migrants: Precariousness, Uncertainty, and Liminal	
	Legality	19
5.3	Consequences for Governments: From Limited Control to Opaque Power	20
Rof	arancas	21

### 1 Introduction

Starting in the 1990s and through the beginning of the millennium, migration control research has largely been concerned with the so called "control gap" between immigration policy objectives and outcomes in liberal democracies (Cornelius, Martin, and Hollifield 1994; Freeman 1995; Joppke 1998; Castles 2004; Hollifield 2004; Wayne et al. 2004; Boswell 2007; Guiraudon and Lahav 2007). Scholars, acknowledging that states seem to lack control over immigration inflows despite efforts to stop them, have formulated different hypotheses to explain this gap. Some scholars suggest that the influence of global economic development and international human rights law on states explains the divergence between the policies aiming for migration control and their outcomes (Hollifield 2004; Soysal 1994; Sassen 1996), while others suggest that domestic factors within liberal democracies best explain the control gap (Freeman 1995; Joppke 1998; Guiraudon 2000; Boswell 2007; Bonjour 2011).

Yet, it was not until migration scholars started using implementation theory to analyze policy that the complexity between migration policy objectives and outcomes was fully acknowledged. It turns out that frontline workers such as border guards (Pratt 1999; Borrelli 2018), immigration officers (Ellermann 2006), local human service workers (Leun 2006), and judges (Köppe 2003; Johannesson 2018) have significant room for discretion. This maneuverable space becomes decisive for the outcome of migration control policies. Since then, the literature on discretion of frontline workers in migration control has grown considerably.

However, the general contours and overall patterns of discretion in migration control remain largely uncharted by research despite the sharp increase in studies that show the significant influence that discretionary decision-making of frontline workers has on migrants and migration control outcomes. In part, this lack of focus could be because the majority of the research on discretion within migration control, as we will show later, has been conducted using qualitative case study designs, which strive for thick descriptions and deep knowledge about how discretion is performed in particular contexts. Although this research has offered valuable insights about decision-making in particular contexts and therefore has provided rich specificity and details, it has made it difficult to abstract the broader patterns and general conclusions about the role of discretion in shaping migration control practices and outcomes.

We find this lack of focus on broader patterns to be an obstacle for knowledge advancements in this research field because what is scholarly appealing with the notion of frontline discretion is not the maneuvering space that individual decision-makers possess per se but how these discretionary practices form patterns and repetitions over space and time. Michael Lipsky's foundational study ([1980] 2010) of street-level bureaucracy demonstrates that the discretion of frontline workers shares certain commonalities even when their tasks and contexts are very different such as teachers and police. Lipsky also stresses that by exploring shared commonalities, scholars of discretion can increase knowledge about what makes a particular public service delivery unique.

Based on the insights that discretion often plays out in patterned ways and that frontline encounters are important for characterizing the unique complexities of a particular policy area, we believe that the literature on discretion in migration control now is mature and multifaceted enough for scholars to grasp the general patterns and commonalities in the use of discretion across different contexts.

The aim of this study is therefore to explore how frontline workers "make" migration control policy when encountering migrants (with varied legal status) in their daily work. Specifically, we uncover which patterns and commonalities of street-level encounters between frontline workers and migrants shape migration control policy outcomes as well as the consequences of these patterned practices for migrants as well as how these affect the ability of policymakers to govern. By migration control policies, we mean all public decisions on admission into a host country and all decisions regulating the legal status during a migrants' stay in the host country, including decisions on removal, deportations, and detentions. We also include decisions on migrants' access to welfare services and other benefits while residing in a country but without citizenship status in our definition of migration control.

To achieve this aim, we conducted a systematic overview and analysis of selected parts of the existing literature on discretion within migration control. The following questions have guided our analysis of the literature:

- What patterns are presented in the literature regarding the discretionary practices of frontline workers?
- What are the consequences of these practices of discretion for migrants?
- How do these practices of discretion influence the ability of policymakers to govern migration?

Literature reviews can help summarize general conclusions within a research area and enable cumulative knowledge production and consolidation within a research field. Our study is the first systematic attempt to summarize previous research findings on the role of discretion in migration control. Two other literature review studies on similar topics have recently been published (Yeo and Huang 2020; Larrison and Raadschelders 2020), but they both aim to contribute to public administration research by reviewing existing literature on migration from top-ranked public administration journals. Both of these studies found limited coverage of migration-related topics in public administration research. Therefore, there is a need for more public administration researchers to focus their attention on the enforcement of migration policy, especially on the encounters between frontline workers and migrants.

This literature review is broader in scope than the two studies mentioned above, as its focus is not limited to public administration research. That is, this study acknowledges the interdisciplinary character of migration studies and therefore includes all types of academic journals in the sample. Following this inclusive sampling strategy, we identified and assembled the current academic knowledge about the general patterns of discretionary practices within the administration of migration control. Therefore, our study makes several contributions to the scholarship on discretion in migration control. First, we found that the perceptions of frontline workers regarding deservingness and their racialized perceptions of suspiciousness shape discretion in migration control. Second, we found that discretion amplifies the already vulnerable situations migrants are in, although discretion could also benefit individual migrants under certain conditions. Third, we found that state power does not necessarily decrease as a consequence of discretion at the frontlines, which is stipulated in the control-gap literature described above. To the contrary, we found that state power transforms into an opaque and informal form of governance that can select migrants

according to how desirable they are to host states but without codifying this sorting in law. By this move, governments can avoid responsibility when migration control polices turn out to work in discriminatory or inhumane ways. These findings can be useful as a starting point for future studies of discretion in migration control and guide scholars to fruitful inquiries for future studies. We will give suggestions for future studies in the concluding section of this paper.

### 2 Conceptualizing Discretion within Migration Control

Public administration and legal research have a long tradition of studying discretion, including the work by Davis (1969), for whom "[a] public officer has discretion wherever the effective limits on his power leave him free to make a choice among possible courses of action and inaction" (p. 4). This definition acknowledges that rules and discretion are interrelated in the decision-making of frontline workers (Durose 2011; Davis 1972). However, this definition also conceives of discretion as an informal space where subjective judgment enters into the realm of law (Dubois 2016) and risks undermining the rule of law and principles of legality and justice (Handler 1986), a perception that stands in contrast to understandings of discretion as lying within the legal realm of decision-making (see the donut analogy by Dworkin 1963). Yet, both approaches rest on what Anna Pratt calls a "false discretion/law binary," which considers discretion as something problematic that "can only be effectively addressed through the constraints and checks offered by law" (Pratt 1999, 217).

In Lipsky's (1980) work on street-level bureaucracy, the relationship between rule-following and subjective judgment in street-level organizations is elaborated in less normative terms. The novelty of Lipsky's approach resides in how it focuses on frontline workers "by asking not what frontline workers should do, but what they did and why" (Brodkin 2016, 29, italics in original), allowing for a study of how such actors understand discretion and moving away from a purely legal perspective. For Lipsky, discretion does not exist outside or beyond rule-abiding practices. Instead, discretion is an integrated and inevitable element of all decision-making regulated by laws and rules, since frontline workers need to consider each case on its own merits, making it impossible for regulations and guidelines to cover every legal situation or case composition.

Within this tradition, scholars understand discretion as a form of "controlled freedom"–i.e., the middle ground between "total control" and "complete freedom" (Evans and Hupe 2020, 9). Discretion comes as a "boon and bane" since it is what enables individualized answers to clients' claims while potentially enabling arbitrary decision making (Zacka 2016). This conceptualization of discretion does not perceive it as problematic per se; however, discretion becomes problematic when it affects decision-making in systematic ways to the (dis)advantage of particular groups (see Brodkin 2011b; Pedersen, Stritch, and Thuesen 2018; Cleveland et al. 2018; Parmar 2018; Spire 2020).

Lipsky's work has inspired a broad literature focused on street level encounters between public officials and individuals (Meyers and Nielsen 2012; Hupe and Hill 2015). The uses of discretion within different public service professions have been investigated, such as teachers (Maynard-Moody and Musheno 2003), social workers (Zacka 2017; Dubois 2016), and police officers (Epp, Maynard-Moody, and Haider-Markel 2014), but also among private actors such as security guards and humanitarian workers (Gammeltoft-Hansen and Sørensen 2013). Studies have demonstrated how professional norms influence discretion in crucial ways and give rise to ethical dilemmas for

frontline workers (Evans 2011). Other studies have been conducted across bureaucratic and organizational fields (Piñeiro, Koch, and Pasche 2019; Watkins-Hayes 2009) to find commonalities between them. As a consequence of managerial trends within public administration, more public services are now conducted by private or semi-private contractors (Brodkin 2012). Therefore, Street-Level Organizations (SLOs) are understood as encompassing a variety of organizations that enact laws, political decisions, and organizational cultures. Frontline workers within these organizations are caught between professional norm expectations and managerial ideas and paradigms (Brodkin 2011a).

One way that frontline workers solve these dilemmas is by developing coping strategies in their daily encounters with clients. For example, Tummers et al. propose that coping strategies can be classified into three types: "moving towards clients," "moving away from clients," and "moving against clients" (2015). "Moving towards clients" is most common among teachers and healthcare profession (traditionally seen as helping professions) as these professionals tend to bend or even break rules to meet the needs of their clients. When time and organizational resources are sparse, they prioritize among clients to help those in most desperate need and they use personal resources to meet the needs of these clients. "Moving away from clients" uses routines and standardization to keep clients at a distance.

Sometimes these strategies involve activities called "rationing," which aim to make it harder for clients to access public services. These strategies arise due to heavy workloads and managerial pressure and are found among all professional categories of frontline workers. "Moving against clients" enforces rigid rule-following to control and sanction clients. This category includes aggression and anger towards clients by frontline workers, especially police officers and other frontline workers who have significant discretion when executing law enforcement tasks (Tummers et al. 2015, 1108–1112).

From this brief overview of research that conceptualizes discretion, we can make several conclusions. First, discretion is an inherent part of decision-making and cannot be erased from the implementation of public policies. Second, discretion is exercised by a broad variety of actors, from law enforcement to healthcare professions, and evokes different dilemmas for these actors. Third, discretion is shaped by a complex web of individual, legal, organizational, and structural factors, leading to different patterns of discretionary practices in different policy fields.

## 2.1 Initial coding of Decision-Making Situations within Migration Control: Welfare, Legal Status, and Territorial Control

Because discretion plays out differently depending on who enforces it and which organizational and structural context it is studied, it becomes important to use a conceptualization of discretion that is sensitive to the particular situation where discretion is exercised, which in this case is the broad policy area of migration control. This policy area has long been characterized by contradictory and ambiguous policy goals (Slaven and Boswell 2018). Migration control policies are also rapidly changing and are influenced by a complex web of international human rights declarations, transnational agreements, national legislation concerning human rights, as well as regional and local policies (Castles 2004; Geddes 2003; Bonjour 2011). The consequence of these contradictory and

ambiguous policies is that discretion has become very broad for frontline workers involved in migration control.

To capture the broad range of actors mobilized to enforce migration control, we build on the expanded notion of Lipsky's (1980) street-level bureaucracy, which encompasses all frontline workers who work either for a state bureaucracy or for non-profit or for-profit organizations performing state tasks and who engage in migration control policy delivery (cf. Brodkin 2012; Eule et al. 2019). Moreover, we assume that a healthcare worker who decides whether to offer a medical treatment to undocumented migrants and a police officer who decides which border crossers need to present documents have very different professional identities and therefore are confronted with different kinds of ethical dilemmas. They also work within different organizational structures so the organizational goal conflicts they are subjected to are different, which means they develop different coping strategies. Based on our definition of migration control and these insights from discretion research, we identify three main categories of discretionary decision-making situations within migration control: 1) decisions on access to welfare services; 2) decisions on legal status; and 3) decisions on territorial control.

Decisions on welfare services pertain to rights and benefits stemming from the legal status that migrants have been granted or depending on the liminal sites where they are held while waiting for these decisions, such as detention centers or refugee camps. One common feature of these decisions is that they are conducted by frontline workers who are not specialized in or who do not necessarily consider themselves affiliated with migration-related decisions, such as teachers, social service officers, and healthcare workers. These workers are suddenly confronted with the task to offer or deny migrants certain rights or welfare benefits, which can create salient moral and ethical dilemmas for these decision-makers (Borrelli 2022; Ataç and Rosenberger 2018).

We have classified decisions on legal status as decisions where migrants are granted different legal, semi-legal, or illegal statuses. In this category, we also include procedural decisions on legal status, for example, decisions regarding how to apply for citizenship or whether oral hearings are needed to determine asylum claims. These decisions are mainly conducted by public officials and judicial professions working in government agencies, tribunals, or administrative courts. We know from previous studies that these decisions are characterized by legalistic procedures and detailed investigations into the migrant's life history, travel routes, economic situation, and family ties (Gill and Good 2019; Affolter 2021; Thomas 2011).

Territorial decisions pertain to decisions on who has the right to enter and move freely within a territory and who will be expelled from the territory. These kinds of decisions are often made "on the spot" and within short periods, for example, in border zones, on the streets in stop-and-search raids, or at airports. These decisions could also pertain to detention and other forms of confinement policies for migrants to limit their freedom of movement within the state's territory (Persdotter 2019; Evans 2020).

Based on this initial classification of decision situations in migration control, we can explore to what extent there are differences in terms of discretionary patterns as well as the consequences for migrants and for the capacity of governments to govern within these three decision-making situations.

### 3 Methodology: Literature Review and the Resulting Corpus

To produce a representative overview of discretion in migration control, we conducted a systematic review of peer-reviewed articles published in academic journals. The procedure took inspiration from the PRISMA flow diagram, a widely used reporting item for literature reviews (Liberati et al. 2009; Sabbe, Moyson, and Schiffino 2020), which enables high level of transparency and replicability of the used methodology.

Because our ambition with this literature review was not to systematically analyze all research published about discretion in migration control, we used a purposive sampling strategy to narrow our sample to a manageable size for qualitative analysis. To achieve this, we started with the inclusion criteria described below.

### 3.1 Inclusion Criteria

- Original research articles. We focused on articles because they capture the interdisciplinarity of the field, have undergone peer-review, and are published at a higher speed than books. To only include original journal articles is also a conventional selection strategy for systematic literature reviews, which makes this review more comparable with other literature reviews on similar topics (Larrison and Raadschelders 2020; Yeo and Huang 2020). However, this means that our review does not cover some of the most influential publications within the field of migration studies, as these publications have been published as monographs or edited volumes (e.g., Bosworth 2014; Ellermann 2009; Mountz 2020; Provine et al. 2016). Despite this omission, we believe that this sampling strategy allows us to capture the general patterns of discretionary practices within migration control as it creates a sample consisting of a large variety of studies from different empirical contexts.
- Studies of discretion as an empirical phenomenon. We built our sample on studies that investigated discretion as an empirical phenomenon rather than as a normatively undesirable and illegitimate ingredient in public decision-making. Therefore, we only included articles based on empirical work that investigate the contours and functions of discretion in a particular setting.
- Studies of migration control policies. Based on our definition of migration control, we included all articles that studied decisions on admission into a host country and decisions regulating the legal status during a migrants' stay in a host country, including decisions on removal, deportations, and detentions. We also included studies of decisions on migrants' access to welfare services while residing in a host country.
- English language. Since English is the only language shared among the four authors, we chose English as a language criterion. This was necessary as the selection, filtering process, and analysis of the articles were conducted collaboratively using an inter-rating approach. We are, however, aware that the language criterion entails a significant risk of over-representing research produced in and about the English-speaking Global North (see McNally and Rahim 2020; Vargas-Silva 2019).

- Time between January 2001 and June 2020. We know from previous literature reviews on similar topics (Yeo and Huang 2020; Larrison and Raadschelders 2020) that research articles on migration-related topics started to increase after the millennium, so we decided to start the sampling period after 2000. Moreover, 2001 marked an intensified politicization of migration following the September 11 attacks on World Trade Center and the growth of a "research industry" in the field of migration and border studies (Andersson 2014; Amuedo-Dorantes, Puttitanun, and Martinez-Donate 2019).

### 3.2 Identification

Once we identified the relevant inclusion criteria, a comprehensive search of articles via the Scopus database was conducted. Scopus was chosen because it is the largest abstract and citation database of peer-reviewed literature such as scientific journals, books, and conference proceedings. Since we were interested in discretion in migration control, abstracts or keywords needed to mention "discretion" or "discretionary" combined with a second keyword to narrow the sample to migration control policies: "migration," "asylum," "refugee," "immigration," "border control," or "detention." From this initial identification of articles, a list of 261 potentially relevant articles was generated.

### 3.3 Screening

In a second step, all abstracts were read more thoroughly and categorized into "more relevant" or "less relevant" as well as an "uncertain" according to the inclusion criteria. With this collaborative inter-rating approach, which was used to enhance the reliability of the coding, at least two of the four authors read each abstract. The "uncertain" category abstracts were resolved via an open discussion that involved all the authors. After completing this procedure, we had extracted 103 abstracts. As a third step, all 103 articles were read in their entirety, and we decided which articles to include or exclude based on the inclusion criteria. At least two authors discussed each article and decided together if it was eligible for inclusion in the final corpus. At this stage, we excluded articles with a purely theoretical focus or articles without a more substantial discussion on discretion. The result of this exhaustive screening of each article was a final corpus consisting of 63 articles, which were selected for detailed coding.

### 3.4 Quantitative Coding

As for the analysis of the selected 63 articles, we developed a coding scheme, which listed the general information of the articles such as the year of publication, country of study, academic discipline of the authors, journal, research question, and research methodologies. We used two codes to analyze which decision-making situation discretion was exercised: type of decision-making (e.g., decision on detention, visa, asylum, or welfare services) and type of actors studied (e.g., police officers, social workers, or judges). Based on these two codes, we made a collective decision on which of the three decision-making situations (welfare, legal status, or territory) each article best fit. Some articles explored several decision-making situations within one country (Gill 2009; Mourad 2017) or compared two types of decision-making situations with each other (Bastien 2009), which made the categorization difficult. In these cases, we decided which kind of decision situation the articles discussed most in detail.

### 3.5 Qualitative Analysis

After we sorted all 63 articles in one of the three types of decision-making, the qualitative part of the coding process began. We read all articles, looking for answers to our three research questions: a) What patterns are presented in the literature regarding the discretionary practices of frontline workers?; b) What are the consequences of these practices of discretion for migrants?; and c) How do these practices of discretion influence the ability of policymakers to govern migration? When analyzing each of these questions, we searched for similarities in findings between articles, but noted the variations in the articles. Sometimes, we discovered contradictory conclusions as well as debates among different scholars on the same topic. We try to do justice to these differences and debates when presenting the results. We present some articles in more detail than others because we found their conclusions to speak more directly to our research questions than other articles.

### 4 Results: Discretion in Migration Control Research

In the following section, we outline the main results of our analysis, starting with descriptive notes on the content of the sample, followed by a detailed examination of the three decision-making situations. For each situation, we summarize the main findings in the articles in terms of how they answer our three research questions.

### 4.1 Background Characteristics

Our sample showed great variety in terms of the journals where the articles were published, reflecting the multidisciplinary character of migration research. The only major pattern we could identify was a slight concentration of articles in specialized migration-related journals and to some extent within socio-legal journals. In addition, articles were published in sociological journals, public administration journals, and public policy journals and to some extent in journals specialized in criminology. We saw an increase in articles in the second part of our studied period. Before 2012, only 14 articles were published; however, since 2012, 48 articles were published. This confirms the initial assumption we had of a research field that has grown considerably over the last decade.

The absolute majority of articles about discretion employed qualitative methods in particular ethnography or semi-structured interviews. This finding reiterates the results in the literature review on migration-related research within public administration journals, where the majority of the articles used qualitative methods (Yeo and Huang 2020). This is not surprising as SLO research originates from a qualitative research tradition relying on participant observations and interviews to capture the daily practices of public officers and decision-makers.

Most articles focused on North America and Europe and a few on Australia, Africa, South America, and East Asia. This bias is at least partly explained by our focus on studies published in English. However, the strong dominance of single case studies from North America and Europe also reflects the long criticized Northern-centric bias in migration research (Chimni 1998; Lee, Carling, and

Orrenius 2014), which ignores the fact that migration between south-south regions is more common than migration from the global south to the global north (Fiddian-Qasmiyeh 2020).

As seen in Table 1, the three decision types we initially coded the data for were distributed into two larger groups and one relatively smaller group. Yet, all three types include enough articles to answer our research questions. Below, we will report the results of this analysis, beginning with welfare decisions, then discussing legal status decisions, and finally discussing findings from the territorial decision category.

Type of decision	Number (%)	Examples
Welfare decisions	13 (20%)	Education, health care,
		economic support,
		housing
Decisions on legal status	27 (43%)	Asylum, work permit,
		visa, temporary residence
		permit
Territorial decisions	23 (37%)	Deportation, detention,
		border control
Total number	63 (100%)	

### 4.2 Decisions on Access to Welfare Services

In the Welfare Decisions category, we found 13 articles. The articles pertain to diverse situations where access to welfare services is decided, for example, housing, education, employment, healthcare, integration programs, and legal advice. Six articles deal specifically with migrant children and their rights to welfare services (Dunkerley et al. 2005; Ottosson, Eastmond, and Schierenbeck 2013; Glenn - Levin Rodriguez 2016; Meloni et al. 2017; Ní Raghallaigh and Thornton 2017; Svensson 2019), which could reflect an increased recognition of children's rights within research in asylum destination countries in general (Brittle and Desmet 2020). Apart from having a special focus on children's rights, asylum seekers were another common group in this sample (Dunkerley et al. 2005; Rosenberger and König 2012; Ottosson, Eastmond, and Schierenbeck 2013; Ní Raghallaigh and Thornton 2017).

The results we found regarding patterns of discretion indicated that migration control gives rise to various ethical dilemmas for welfare frontline workers. These studies emphasize the ethical dilemmas that arise for frontline workers when they are delegated policy tasks they are not trained to do and might not find morally justified. This was expressed as an ethical conflict between obedience and compassion in the case of Dutch integration coaches and teachers (Belabas and Gerrits 2017), as a conflict between the best interest of the child and organizational demands of efficiency among Swedish immigration officers (Ottosson, Eastmond, and Schierenbeck 2013), and as a conflict between professional norms and the policy task of controlling immigration imposed on Swedish teachers (Svensson 2019) and Swedish social workers (Cuadra and Staaf 2014). One

article described this pressure to implement migration control policies as a criminalization of solidarity among frontline workers who encounter undocumented migrants in their daily work (Barberis and Boccagni 2014).

In relation to the second research question (What are the consequences of these practices of discretion for migrants?), we found that the discretion of frontline workers amplified migrants' already vulnerable situations, for example, the mental health of migrant children in foster care in Ireland (Ní Raghallaigh and Thornton 2017) or the invisibility among undocumented students in Canada (Meloni et al. 2017). However, some articles also discussed instances where individual migrants benefitted from discretionary decision-making, which depended on the willingness of individual frontline workers to go "the extra mile" (Belabas and Gerrits 2017) for their clients. This willingness corresponds to the coping strategy of moving towards clients, which was seen primarily among teachers and healthcare workers (Tummers et al. 2015).

For example, in a study focusing on the experiences of frontline workers in the asylum reception system in Wales, the authors found that the frontline workers sometimes turned "a blind eye" to the letter of the law by letting rejected asylum seekers remain in the system (Dunkerley et al. 2005, 649). Similarly, in a study of Finnish reception centers, the authors found that frontline workers inside the reception facilities ensured that unsuccessful asylum seekers who stayed in Finland illegally received basic support from the local authorities when the reception services terminated even if this assistance was not required of them (Okkonen and Takala 2019).

One study (Belabas and Gerrits 2017) in this sample not only found support for frontline workers' willingness to help clients but also investigated which conditions lead to these supportive discretionary decisions being taken. They found that if the client was highly motivated to integrate in society, if the client was under extreme personal distress, or if the policy were perceived to have negative outcomes for the client in a particular situation, frontline workers became more inclined to use their discretionary power to the benefit the individual client. Consequently, the authors conclude that immigration policies are shaped by the individual perceptions of clients' "deservingness" among frontline workers, which is also supported by studies on welfare support outside the field of migration (e.g., Volckmar-Eeg and Vassenden 2022; Assouline and Gilad 2022).

In terms of how discretion influenced policymakers' capacity to govern, several articles highlighted the multilevel character of migration policy implementation. One study (Rosenberger and König 2012) showed local variation in the case of minimum standards of reception of asylum seekers in Austria. Another study (De Graauw 2014) investigated municipal resistance to restrictive national immigration policies in the case of local authorities' decision to implement municipal identification cards for undocumented migrants in San Francisco despite federal resistance.

### 4.3 Decisions on Legal Status

Decisions on legal status comprised 27 articles, making it the largest category in the data set. Many of the articles studied decision situations pertaining to asylum and refugee status (e.g., Saltsman 2014; Miaz 2017; Poertner 2017; Magalhães 2018; Gill et al. 2018); however, some articles studied discretion of decisions pertaining to visa applications (e.g., Alpes and Spire 2014; Satzewich 2015; Jenny Lee, Paulidor, and Mpaga 2018), citizenship (e.g., Kapoor and Narkowicz 2019; Sredanovic

2020), family migration (e.g., Dörrenbächer 2018), and work permits (e.g., Cyrus and Vogel 2003; Triandafyllidou 2003).

In this sub-sample, we found two patterns of discretionary practices. On the one hand, some authors argued that frontline decisions on the legal status of migrants were shaped by racialized perceptions of the frontline workers. For example, one article (Kapoor and Narkowicz 2019) examined the concept of "bad character" in citizenship applications in the UK. As this concept lacks legal definition, frontline workers can decide when to withdraw citizenship status for immigrants. The authors found that the discretionary assessment of "bad character" to refuse or withdraw citizenship status for non-white populations "functions as a way of sustaining the racialised dynamics of the nation-state, creating a durability to the precarious status of 'non-citizens' while also enhancing the armoury of disciplinary practices available to the state for potential use against 'failed citizens'" (Kapoor and Narkowicz 2019, 667).

On the other hand, some articles questioned the assumption that racial biases influence the decisions frontline workers make pertaining to migrants. In one of the few quantitative studies in our sample, the author (Satzewich 2015) examined whether racial biases shaped visa applications for skilled workers and family/partner applications in Canada. The author found inexplicable disparities in granting rates, but that the pattern of variation did not support the view that visa officers favor "white" applicants over "visible minority" applicants. The same author (Satzewich 2014b), in a qualitative study of the discretionary decisions of visa officers in Canada, concluded that "deservingness" was an informal categorization made by frontline workers, which made them scrutinize some applicants more than others. This work argued that the sorting mechanism was actualized via a technical and administrative logic rather than via institutional racism or racial discrimination.

Our analysis shows that the consequences of patterned discretionary practices aimed at migrants result in negative consequences. Many articles discussed unequal treatment, ambiguity, uncertainty, precariousness, and discrimination. However, a few articles also mentioned beneficial consequences for individual migrants (Jordan, Stråth, and Triandafyllidou 2003; Abarca and Coutin 2018). One of these articles (Abarca and Coutin 2018) explored the consequences of rapid changes in migration control policies for undocumented migrants in the US. The authors concluded that US migration control policy "produces extreme uncertainty in the lives of noncitizens, who must collect check stubs, bills, medical records, and other documents in hopes of eventually being able to submit them as part of a legalization case," but this unpredictability also enabled migrants to occasionally "speak back to the state in its own language, thus exploiting opportunities to challenge illegalization" (Abarca and Coutin 2018, 8).

Many articles in this sub-sample argued that discretion at the frontlines created possibilities for governments to exercise informal power to sort out "undesirable" and "undeserving" migrants without codifying discriminatory sorting mechanisms in formal laws and policies (Köppe 2003; Moffette 2014; Satzewich 2014b; Saltsman 2014). In an article about discretion within decisions on migrants' admission to Canada, the authors claimed that the important decision about who should be let into Canada is "being made literally by the people at the gate" (Bouchard and Carroll 2002, 254) rather than by democratically elected representatives. This finding indicates that governments deliberately transfer power from themselves to frontline workers to avoid being blamed for these

decisions. An article (Magalhães 2018) studying asylum officers in Brazil argued that discretion was used by frontline workers as a rhetorical tool to justify refusals of asylum claims, which deflected personal responsibility for these decisions. According to these two articles, discretion facilitated blame-avoidance for both central governments and frontline workers.

Two articles in this sub-sample theorized the opaque and informal governance strategies by coining the phrases "the discretionary state" (Coutin et al. 2017) and "the presentational state" (Gill 2009). The notion of "presentational state" draws on Foucauldian theorizations of state power and describes how the central government in the UK attempts to externalize their responsibilities for asylum decisions to intermediators while exercising influence over asylum decision-making in subtle and opaque ways by the strategic geographical positioning of asylum seekers. This was made by speeding up the asylum procedure, increasing the frustration of decision-makers with complicated or resource-intensive asylum claims, and by moving asylum seekers between accommodations and detention centers, which hampered continuity and the development of personal ties between asylum seekers and frontline workers. Gill concluded that "it is necessary to recognise that alongside coercive (legal) and manipulative (financial) forms of state power, states also command powers that are capable of engendering the will to act in accordance with state objectives, rather than simply generating the necessity or imperative to do so" (2009, 219).

By introducing the concept of "the discretionary state" (Coutin et al. 2017), the authors made similar claims as Gill (2009) about the opaque yet persuasive form of state governance through discretion. However, they made their claims based on anthropological theories of state power. The authors describe the notion of "the discretionary state" in relation to liberal democratic ideal of "the contractual state." In contrast to the contractual state, which guarantees rights and acts in a transparent and predictable fashion, the discretionary state is "omnipresent, brought into being through the exercise of discretion (which affirms its sovereignty), fragmented (in that there may be internal dissension), unstable (in that its programs can be suspended or ignored), and law-like but differentiated from formal law" (Coutin et al. 2017, 953). This configuration of the state also creates a particular kind of migrant subject—one who is not recognized as a rights holder nor on a path to citizenship but one who is a "transitory subject" with quasi-legal status, disappearing and reappearing through documentation, living with a high degree of uncertainty (Coutin et al. 2017, 955).

### 4.4 Decisions on Territorial Control

In the third category of decision-making situations, we found 23 articles. These articles explored the role of discretion in the decisions of frontline workers at border zones (e.g., Romero 2006; Heyman 2009; A. Pratt 2010; van der Woude and van der Leun 2017; Brouwer, van der Woude, and van der Leun 2018; Armenta 2016), in decisions on detention of migrants (e.g., Weber 2003; Martin 2011; Molnar 2017; Borrelli 2018; Cleveland et al. 2018; Sipos 2019), and in decisions on deportation of migrants from the territory (e.g., Fischer 2013; Zatz and Rodriguez 2014; Asad 2019; Chand 2020). The most common category of frontline worker within this sample were police officers and border guards, but there were also studies of judges (Martin 2011; Asad 2019), civil servants at detention centers and at asylum centers (Weber 2003; Sipos 2019), lawyers (Zatz and Rodriguez 2014), and activists (Barsky 2005).

In contrast to the disagreements over the extent that racialized prejudices played a role in discretion found in the legal decision category, articles in this sub-sample agreed that racialized prejudices structured discretionary practices. A common decision-making situation explored in these articles were so called "stop and search" activities at border zones or on the streets in the local communities. Such activities involve significant room for discretion of the frontline workers, who can decide who to stop and control for residence status or presumed criminal activity. Studies on this topic discussed racial profiling and found ample evidence for racial profiling in their empirical observations (Brouwer, van der Woude, and van der Leun 2018; Pratt 2010; Heyman 2009; Romero 2006). For example, in a study (Brouwer, van der Woude, and van der Leun 2018) of border police in the Netherlands, the authors found that the police officers blended the task of searching for criminalized individuals with the task of preventing illegal entry of migrants. This resulted in racial profiling, as people with "foreign appearance" were stopped more often than people who were racialized as white. A study of Canadian border controls (Pratt 2010) further demonstrated how "low-level" racialized knowledge about who is suspicious at the border translates into "objective" knowledge at later stages during court proceedings.

Several articles also found that class and nationality were also decisive indicators of suspiciousness at the border (Brouwer, van der Woude, and van der Leun 2018; Heyman 2009). Consequently, the authors pointed to the privilege of invisibility that white middle-class bodies experience at the border: "being the beneficiary of non-action thus can be a distinct privilege in an unequal society" (Heyman 2009, 389). This benefit protects them from being humiliated and delayed by police on the streets, fostering a perception of state power as invisible and benevolent rather than repressive and discriminatory.

In this sub-sample, like in the two others, discretion was described as detrimental for migrants, severely amplifying the vulnerability and uncertainty of migrants (Cleveland et al. 2018; Molnar 2017; Gaibazzi 2017; Weber 2003). One of the few studies of discretion at the frontline in countries in the Global South (Gaibazzi 2017) also made it clear that discretion in the hands of corrupt police officers can lead to brutal harassments for particular groups of migrants, in this case West African migrants in Angola. In contrast to the other two sub-samples, this sub-sample of articles does not discuss discretionary practices leading to benefits for individual migrants. This supports findings from Tummers et al. (2015) about frontline workers in law enforcement being more likely than other frontline professions to use coping strategies marked by anger, aggression, and rigid rule-following—i.e., moving against clients.

In this sub-sample, we found several articles discussing how discretion facilitates the same kinds of informal and opaque governing techniques described in the sub-sample on legal decisions. By deliberately making large room for discretion at the frontlines, the state can obscure but still use sorting mechanisms built on racialized suspicions (Pratt 2010) and class-based and nationality-based stereotypes (Heyman 2009). Moreover, several articles in this sub-sample argued that discretion deflected the responsibility for discriminatory practices and unequal treatment of migrants from policy makers as well as individual decision-makers (Borrelli 2018; Dekkers, van der Woude, and Koulish 2019; Sipos 2019). In addition to conclusions from the sub-sample on legal status decisions, articles on territorial decisions demonstrated that the consequences of this not only target noncitizens but also citizens racialized as non-white and ethnic minorities inside the territory

by disciplining them, controlling them, and discriminating against them (Armenta 2016; Romero 2006).

### 5 Concluding Discussion

This paper searched for patterns in the discretionary practices of frontline workers when implementing migration control policies. We did this by conducting a literature review of original research articles published in a 20-year period. We reported the results by dividing the sample of 63 articles into three thematic sub-samples according to type of decision-making situation: welfare decisions, legal decisions, and territorial decisions. In this concluding section of the paper, we compare the findings from each sub-sample and discuss the overall conclusions to be drawn from this analysis. We also point to future avenues for research that could advance research on discretion in migration control.

# 5.1 Patterns of Discretionary Practices: Between Perceptions of "Deservingness" and Racialized Suspicions

Our first research question asked what types of discretionary patterns were found in the research articles of our sample. We found slightly different answers to this question depending on what type of decision-making situation we analyzed. In welfare decisions, we found that frontline workers were crouched between the norms and ethos of their professions and the policing and monitoring tasks imposed on them by migration control policies. This created ethical dilemmas for them. Some handled this by choosing to grant support to migrants who they perceived to be more deserving than others. We also found that perceptions of deservingness shaped discretionary decisions on legal status together with racialized perceptions of who is suspicious. Racialized suspicion also heavily influenced the patterns of practices among frontline workers who make decisions about territorial control. Here, race, class, and nationality significantly structured the discretionary practices of frontline workers, with severe discriminatory implications for migrants as well as for citizens belonging to ethnic minorities and other groups racialized as non-white.

In our sample, we found a disagreement among scholars as to the extent racialized biases (e.g., Kapoor and Narkowicz 2019; Pratt 2010; Heyman 2009) or perceptions of deservingness of individual migrants (e.g., Belabas and Gerrits 2017; Satzewich 2015; Satzewich 2014b) influenced discretion. However, we do not want to overemphasize this disagreement. In our view, perceptions of deservingness and racialized perceptions of suspiciousness are often highly intertwined. For example, socio-legal studies have pointed out that administrative practices are underpinned by and sustain racism on a structural level without individual frontline workers having racist agendas (van Oorschot 2021).

Studies have even shown that, paradoxically, discretionary practices justified by legalistic principles aimed to counteract discrimination, such as the equal treatment principle, can become the structuring principles that lead to discrimination of non-citizens (Johannesson 2022). Therefore, we see a need for more theoretically informed discussions about the relationship between racial suspicions and perceptions of deservingness and how such perceptions shape policy outcomes. We believe that such clarifications would advance the scholarship on structural racism in public service

delivery as well as the scholarship on racial biases in public decision-making in migration control and beyond.

Apart from racialized suspicion and perceptions of deservingness, we found a few studies in our sample that discussed increased demands of effectiveness under managerialism as a force that shapes how frontline workers use their discretion (Ottosson, Eastmond, and Schierenbeck 2013; Satzewich 2014a). Considering the agreement among public administration scholars of the enormous impact neoliberal reforms such as new public management and managerialism have had on public services over the last decades (Brodkin 2011a; Power 1997; Hood 1995), it was surprising that this was not a more salient discussion within our sample of articles.

There is also ample evidence from comparative migration research outside of our sample of the influence neoliberalism has had on national migration policies. For example, Boucher and Gest (2018), in an analysis of migration regimes in 30 countries, found that a shared feature between these regimes is that they turn towards a market model. That is, these states increasingly use migration to achieve their economic interests and goals, which could also create particular imperatives for discretionary practices. With this as a background, we suggest that future research investigate in more detail how public managerial reforms influence the practices of frontline workers when implementing migration control policies.

### 5.2 Consequences for Migrants: Precariousness, Uncertainty, and Liminal Legality

In our sample of articles, there was overwhelming agreement that discretion among frontline workers in migration control amplified the already vulnerable situation of migrants. Discretion created more uncertainty in already uncertain situations and augmented unpredictability for migrants regarding their access to rights, justice, and safety. In the sub-sample on territorial decisions, it was also discussed how discretionary practices directed at migrants sometimes spilled over to groups of citizens who do not pass as white and middle-class. This observation about the radiating effects of arbitrary border control practices needs to be investigated in more detail in future research to determine more precisely how migration control measures and discrimination of minority citizens are related.

However, some articles in the sample also discussed discretion's tendency to open for hopes and aspirations among migrants for welfare services, access to legal rights, or work. In our sample, these instances of beneficial decisions for migrants were more common in welfare decisions than in legal decisions or territorial decisions. One explanation for this could be that frontline workers in welfare services are more likely to employ moving towards coping strategies as a result of their professional ethos than other frontline workers. However, in our sample these helping strategies seemed to consist primarily of different forms of inaction, for example, "turning a blind eye" to rules (Dunkerley et al. 2005). However, it is unclear whether this is a general tendency or just a result of our sampling strategy.

There are a few studies outside the scope of our sample that demonstrate that frontline workers in migration control agencies sometimes actively resist and obstruct the implementation of repressive migration control measures due to ethical commitments (Borrelli and Lindberg 2018; Andreetta 2022; Vetters 2022). Therefore, we would like to see more research on different forms of strategies

among frontline workers who support migrants in precarious situation. It also seems crucial to investigate what role frontline workers have in democratic societies, notably in fields such as migration control, where policies are in tension with or directly jeopardizing the fundamental rights of migrants. In addition, we see a need for more systematic studies of the conditions where discretion is used in favor of migrants, similar to the study by Belabas and Gerrits (2017).

### 5.3 Consequences for Governments: From Limited Control to Opaque Power

We started this paper by describing the control gap-thesis: governments lack capacity to fully implement migration policies according to their goals and ambitions. Based on the findings of previous studies, we conclude that discretion at the frontline of public administration could be seen as the answer to this puzzle. That is, research on discretion in migration control challenges the simplistic idea of states as coherent entities that produce unambiguous policy objectives that smoothly trickle down from the policymakers to the frontline workers through coherent and hierarchical bureaucratic organizations.

In the studies presented here, a distinctly bottom-up conception of the state appears that imagines states as configurations of practices that form complex webs of power relationships. We would like to point to the notion of "presentational state power" (Gill 2009) and the notion of "the discretionary state" (Coutin et al. 2017) discussed above as illustrative examples of alternative conceptualizations of the state. Both concepts assume that state power is a configuration of power relations that can take different forms depending on who is being targeted.

In the case of the discretionary state, it is the undocumented migrant who is confronted with this configuration of the state as an opaque yet omnipotent form of arbitrary power that mostly prevents but sometimes enables access to temporary rights. In the case of the presentational state power, the intermediators between the central government and the asylum seekers are targeted. To them, state power takes the form of a subtle governmental strategy, presenting asylum seekers in unflattering and defamatory ways, making it easier to discriminate against them. In both these interactions, state power works in informal and tacit ways, so it is difficult to hold anyone accountable or to put blame on formal representatives of the state for the arbitrary and discriminatory consequences of migration control policies.

These two examples of theorizations of state power are welcoming attempts to push the research on discretion in migration control further. We wish to see more theoretical advancements of this sort because what this literature review shows is that we have a lot of detailed, nuanced, and carefully crafted descriptions of how discretion works in migration control, but we still lack theoretical elaborations of how discretion is related to broader questions of state power, structural inequality, accountability, democracy, and the autonomy of frontline worker. Our hope is that this literature review encourages scholars in migration control to explore some of these avenues.

### References

- Abarca, Gray Albert, and Susan Bibler Coutin. 2018. 'Sovereign Intimacies: The Lives of Documents within US State-Noncitizen Relationships'. *American Ethnologist* 45 (1): 7–19. doi:10.1111/amet.12595.
- Affolter, Laura. 2021. Asylum Matters: On the Front Line of Administrative Decision-Making.
   Springer Nature.
- Alpes, Maybritt Jill, and Alexis Spire. 2014. 'Dealing with Law in Migration Control The Powers of Street-Level Bureaucrats at French Consulates'. Social & Legal Studies 23 (2): 261–274. doi:10.1177/0964663913510927.
- Amuedo-Dorantes, Catalina, Thitima Puttitanun, and Ana P. Martinez-Donate. 2019. 'Deporting "Bad Hombres"? The Profile of Deportees under Widespread Versus Prioritized Enforcement'.
   International Migration Review 53 (2): 518–547. doi:10.1177/0197918318764901.
- Andersson, Ruben. 2014. Illegality, Inc. Clandestine Migration and the Business of Bordering Europe. Oakland, California: University of California Press.
- Andreetta, Sophie. 2022. 'Failing, Writing, Litigating: Daily Practices of Resistance in Belgian Welfare Bureaucracies'. *International Journal of Law in Context* 18 (3). Cambridge University Press: 317–332. doi:10.1017/S174455232200026X.
- Armenta, Amada. 2016. 'Between Public Service and Social Control: Policing Dilemmas in the Era of Immigration Enforcement'. Social Problems 63 (1). Oxford University Press: 111–126.
- Asad, Asad L. 2019. 'Deportation Decisions: Judicial Decision-Making in an American Immigration Court'. *American Behavioral Scientist* 63 (9). SAGE Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: 1221–1249.
- Assouline, Michaela, and Sharon Gilad. 2022. 'The Intersectionality of Deservingness For State Support'. *Public Administration Review*, January, puar.13466. doi:10.1111/puar.13466.
- Ataç, İlker, and Sieglinde Rosenberger. 2018. 'Social Policies as a Tool of Migration Control'.
   Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies 17 (1): 1–10. doi:10.1080/15562948.2018.1539802.
- Barberis, Eduardo, and Paolo Boccagni. 2014. 'Blurred Rights, Local Practices: Social Work and Immigration in Italy'. *British Journal of Social Work* 44 (June): i70–i87. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcu041.
- Barsky, Robert F. 2005. 'Activist Translation in an Era of Fictional Law'. TTR: Traduction, Terminologie, Rédaction 18 (2). Association canadienne de traductologie: 17–48.

- Bastien, Joëlle. 2009. 'Goal Ambiguity and Informal Discretion in the Implementation of Public Policies: The Case of Spanish Immigration Policy'. *International Review of Administrative Sciences* 75 (4): 665–685. doi:10.1177/0020852309351472.
- Belabas, Warda, and Lasse Gerrits. 2017. 'Going the Extra Mile? How Street-level Bureaucrats
  Deal with the Integration of Immigrants'. Social Policy & Administration 51 (1). Wiley Online
  Library: 133–150.
- Bonjour, Saskia. 2011. 'The Power and Morals of Policy Makers: Reassessing the Control Gap Debate'. *International Migration Review* 45 (1): 89–122. doi:10.1111/j.1747-7379.2010.00840.x.
- Borrelli, Lisa Marie. 2018. 'Whisper down, up and between the Lanes: Exclusionary Policies and Their Limits of Control in Times of Irregularized Migration'. *Public Administration* 96 (4).
   Wiley Online Library: 803–816.
- Borrelli, Lisa Marie. 2022. 'Tracing the Circulation of Emotions in Migration Enforcement in Switzerland: Organisational Dissonances, Emotional Contradictions and Frictions.' *Identities:* Global Studies in Culture and Power. doi: 10.1080/1070289X.2022.2127668.
- Borrelli, Lisa Marie, and Annika Lindberg. 2018. 'The Creativity of Coping: Alternative Tales of Moral Dilemmas among Migration Control Officers'. *International Journal of Migration and Border Studies* 4 (3). Inderscience Publishers: 163–178. doi:10.1504/IJMBS.2018.093876.
- Boswell, Christina. 2007. 'Theorizing Migration Policy: Is There a Third Way?'. *International Migration Review* 41 (1): 75–100. doi:10.1111/j.1747-7379.2007.00057.x.
- Bosworth, Mary. 2014. Inside Immigration Detention. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Bouchard, Geneviève, and Barbara Wake Carroll. 2002. 'Policy-Making and Administrative Discretion: The Case of Immigration in Canada'. *Canadian Public Administration* 45 (2): 239–257. doi:10.1111/j.1754-7121.2002.tb01082.x.
- Boucher, Anna K., and Justin Gest. 2018. Crossroads: Comparative Immigration Regimes in a World of Demographic Change. 1st ed. Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781316416631.
- Brittle, Ruth, and Ellen Desmet. 2020. 'Thirty Years of Research on Children's Rights in the Context of Migration: Towards Increased Visibility and Recognition of Some Children, But Not All?' *The International Journal of Children's Rights* 28 (1): 36–65. doi:10.1163/15718182-02801008.
- Brodkin, Evelyn Z. 2011a. 'Policy Work: Street-Level Organizations Under New Managerialism'. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 21 (suppl 2): i253–i277. doi:10.1093/jopart/muq093.

- Brodkin, Evelyn Z. 2011b. 'Putting Street-Level Organizations First: New Directions for Social Policy and Management Research'. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 21 (Supplement 2): i199–i201. doi:10.1093/jopart/muq094.
- Brodkin, Evelyn Z. 2012. 'Reflections on Street-Level Bureaucracy: Past, Present, and Future'.
   Public Administration Review 72 (6): 940–949. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6210.2012.02657.x.
- Brodkin, Evelyn Z. 2016. 'The inside Story: Street-Level Research in the US and Beyond'. In *Understanding Street-Level Bureaucracy*, edited by Peter Hupe, Michael Hill, and Aurélien Buffat, 25–42. Bristol, UK: Policy Press.
- Brouwer, Jelmer, Maartje van der Woude, and Joanne van der Leun. 2018. '(Cr) Immigrant
  Framing in Border Areas: Decision-Making Processes of Dutch Border Police Officers'. *Policing and Society* 28 (4). Taylor & Francis: 448–463.
- Castles, Stephen. 2004. 'Why Migration Policies Fail'. Ethnic and Racial Studies 27 (2): 205–227. doi:10.1080/0141987042000177306.
- Chand, Daniel E. 2020. 'Is It Population or Personnel? The Effects of Diversity on Immigration Policy Implementation by Sheriff Offices'. *Public Performance & Management Review* 43 (2). Taylor & Francis: 304–333.
- Chimni, B. S. 1998. 'The Geopolitics of Refugee Studies: A View from the South'. *Journal of Refugee Studies* 11 (4): 350–374. doi:10.1093/jrs/11.4.350-a.
- Cleveland, Janet, Rachel Kronick, Hanna Gros, and Cécile Rousseau. 2018. 'Symbolic Violence and Disempowerment as Factors in the Adverse Impact of Immigration Detention on Adult Asylum Seekers' Mental Health'. *International Journal of Public Health* 63 (8): 1001–1008. doi:10.1007/s00038-018-1121-7.
- Cornelius, Wayne A., Philip L. Martin, and James Frank Hollifield. 1994. Controlling Immigration: A Global Perspective. Stanford, Calif.: Stanford Univ. Press.
- Coutin, Susan Bibler, Sameer M. Ashar, Jennifer M. Chacón, and Stephen Lee. 2017. 'Deferred Action and the Discretionary State: Migration, Precarity and Resistance'. *Citizenship Studies* 21 (8): 951–968. doi:10.1080/13621025.2017.1377153.
- Cuadra, Carin Björngren, and Annika Staaf. 2014. 'Public Social Services' Encounters with Irregular Migrants in Sweden: Amid Values of Social Work and Control of Migration'.
   Encuentro de Los Servicios Sociales Con Los Inmigrantes Irregulares En Suecia: En Medio de Los Valores de Trabajo Social y El Control de La Migración. 17 (1): 88–103. doi:10.1080/13691457.2012.739556.
- Cyrus, Norbert, and Dita Vogel. 2003. 'Work-Permit Decisions in the German Labour Administration: An Exploration of the Implementation Process'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 29 (2). Routledge: 225–255. doi:10.1080/1369183032000079602.

- Davis, Kenneth Culp. 1969. Discretionary Justice: A Preliminary Inquiry. Baton Rouge: Louisiana State University Press.
- Davis, Kenneth Culp. 1972. Administrative Law Text. St. Paul, MN: West Publishing Company.
- De Graauw, Els. 2014. 'Municipal ID Cards for Undocumented Immigrants: Local Bureaucratic Membership in a Federal System'. *Politics & Society* 42 (3). Sage Publications Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: 309–330.
- Dekkers, Tim, Maartje van der Woude, and Robert Koulish. 2019. 'Objectivity and Accountability in Migration Control Using Risk Assessment Tools'. *European Journal of Criminology* 16 (2). SAGE Publications Sage UK: London, England: 237–254.
- Dörrenbächer, Nora. 2018. 'Frontline Uses of European Union (EU) Law: A Parallel Legal Order? How Structural Discretion Conditions Uses of EU Law in Dutch and German Migration Offices'. *Journal of Public Policy* 38 (4): 455–479. doi:10.1017/S0143814X17000095.
- Dubois, Vincent. 2016. The Bureaucrat and the Poor: Encounters in French Welfare Offices.
   Routledge.
- Dunkerley, D., J. Scourfield, T. Maegusuku-Hewett, and N. Smalley. 2005. 'The Experiences of Frontline Staff Working with Children Seeking Asylum'. Social Policy & Administration 39 (6): 640–652. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9515.2005.00461.x.
- Durose, Catherine. 2011. 'Revisiting Lipsky: Front-Line Work in UK Local Governance'.
   Political Studies 59 (4): 978–995. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9248.2011.00886.x.
- Dworkin, Ronald. 1963. 'Judicial Discretion'. Journal of Philosophy 60 (21): 624-638.
- Ellermann, Antje. 2006. 'Street-Level Democracy: How Immigration Bureaucrats Manage Public Opposition'. *West European Politics* 29 (2): 293–309. doi:10.1080/01402380500512627.
- Ellermann, Antje. 2009. States Against Migrants: Deportation in Germany and the United States.
   Cambridge University Press.
- Epp, Charles R., Steven Maynard-Moody, and Donald P. Haider-Markel. 2014. Pulled over: How Police Stops Define Race and Citizenship. The Chicago Series in Law and Society. Chicago, London: The University of Chicago Press.
- Eule, Tobias G., Lisa Marie Borrelli, Annika Lindberg, and Anna Wyss. 2019. *Migrants before the Law: Contested Migration Control in Europe*. Palgrave Macmillan: London.
- Evans, Matthew. 2020. 'Abusing or Misusing the Right of Free Movement? The UK's Policy towards EU National Sleeping Rough'. In *European Citizenship under Scrutiny*, edited by Sandra Mantu, Paul Minderhoud, and Elspeth Guild, 302–323. Leiden: Brill.

- Evans, Tony. 2011. 'Professionals, Managers and Discretion: Critiquing Street-Level Bureaucracy'. British Journal of Social Work 41 (2): 368–386. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcq074.
- Evans, Tony, and Peter L Hupe. 2020. Discretion and the Quest for Controlled Freedom.
   Springer.
- Fiddian-Qasmiyeh, Elena. 2020. 'Introduction'. Migration and Society 3 (1): 1–18. doi:10.3167/arms.2020.030102.
- Fischer, Nicolas. 2013. 'The Detention of Foreigners in France: Between Discretionary Control and the Rule of Law'. *European Journal of Criminology* 10 (6). Sage Publications Sage UK: London, England: 692–708.
- Freeman, Gary P. 1995. 'Modes of Immigration Politics in Liberal Democratic States'.
   International Migration Review 29 (4): 881–902. doi:10.2307/2547729.
- Gaibazzi, Paolo. 2017. 'From Expulsion to Extortion: Deportability, Predatory Policing and West African Migrants in Angola'. *Citizenship Studies* 21 (8). Taylor & Francis: 969–983.
- Gammeltoft-Hansen, Thomas, and Ninna Nyberg Sørensen. 2013. The Migration Industry and the Commercialization of International Migration. London; New York: Taylor & Francis Ltd.
- Geddes, Andrew. 2003. The Politics of Migration and Immigration in Europe. London: SAGE.
- Gill, Nick. 2009. 'Presentational State Power: Temporal and Spatial Influences over Asylum Sector Decisionmakers'. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 34 (2): 215–233. doi:10.1111/j.1475-5661.2009.00337.x.
- Gill, Nick, and Anthony Good. 2019. Asylum Determination in Europe: Ethnographic Perspectives. Springer Nature. https://library.oapen.org/handle/20.500.12657/26029.
- Gill, Nick, Rebecca Rotter, Andrew Burridge, and Jennifer Allsopp. 2018. 'The Limits of Procedural Discretion: Unequal Treatment and Vulnerability in Britain's Asylum Appeals'. Social & Legal Studies 27 (1): 49–78. doi:10.1177/0964663917703178.
- Glenn-Levin Rodriguez, Naomi. 2016. 'Translating "Best Interest": Child Welfare Decisions at the US-México Border'. *PoLAR: Political and Legal Anthropology Review* 39 (S1). Wiley Online Library: 154–168.
- Guiraudon, Virginie. 2000. 'The Marshallian Triptych Reordered: The Role of Courts and Bureaucracies in Furthering Migrants' Social Rights'. In *Immigration and Welfare: Challenging* the Borders of the Welfare State, edited by Michael Bommes and Andrew Geddes, 72–90. Psychology Press.

- Guiraudon, Virginie, and Gallya Lahav. 2007. Immigration Policy in Europe: The Politics of Control. Routledge.
- Handler, J. F. 1986. The Conditions of Discretion. Autonomy, Community, Bureaucracy. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Heyman, Josiah McC. 2009. 'Trust, Privilege, and Discretion in the Governance of the US Borderlands with Mexico'. Canadian Journal of Law and Society / La Revue Canadienne Droit et Société 24 (3). Cambridge University Press: 367–390. doi:10.1017/S0829320100010085.
- Hollifield, James F. 2004. 'The Emerging Migration State'. *International Migration Review* 38 (3): 885–912. doi:10.1111/j.1747-7379.2004.tb00223.x.
- Hood, Christopher. 1995. 'The "New Public Management" in the 1980s: Variations on a Theme'.
   Accounting, Organizations and Society 20 (2): 93–109. doi:10.1016/0361-3682(93)E0001-W.
- Hupe, Peter, and Michael Hill. 2015. Understanding Street-Level Bureaucracy. Policy Press.
- Johannesson, Livia. 2018. 'Exploring the "Liberal Paradox" from the Inside: Evidence from the Swedish Migration Courts'. *International Migration Review* 52 (4): 1162–1185. doi:10.1177/0197918318767928.
- Johannesson, Livia. 2022. 'Just Another Benefit? Administrative Judges' Constructions of Sameness and Difference in Asylum Adjudications'. *Citizenship Studies* 0 (0). Routledge: 1–17. doi:10.1080/13621025.2022.2137939.
- Joppke, Christian. 1998. 'Why Liberal States Accept Unwanted Immigration'. World Politics 50 (02): 266–293. doi:10.1017/S004388710000811X.
- Jordan, Bill, Bo Stråth, and Anna Triandafyllidou. 2003. 'Comparing Cultures of Discretion'.
   Journal of Ethnic & Migration Studies 29 (2): 373. doi:10.1080/1369183032000079648.
- Kapoor, Nisha, and Kasia Narkowicz. 2019. 'Characterising Citizenship: Race, Criminalisation and the Extension of Internal Borders'. Sociology 53 (4). SAGE Publications Sage UK: London, England: 652–670.
- Köppe, Olaf. 2003. 'The Leviathan of Competitiveness: How and Why Do Liberal States (Not)
   Accept Unwanted Immigration?' *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 29 (3): 431–448.
   doi:10.1080/13691830305609.
- Larrison, Jennica, and Jos C N Raadschelders. 2020. 'Understanding Migration: The Case for Public Administration'. *International Journal of Public Administration* 43 (1): 37–48. doi:10.1080/01900692.2019.1620772.

- Lee, Jennifer, Jørgen Carling, and Pia Orrenius. 2014. 'The International Migration Review at 50: Reflecting on Half a Century of International Migration Research and Looking Ahead'.
   International Migration Review 48 (1 suppl): 3–36. doi:10.1111/imre.12144.
- Lee, Jenny J., Kopgang Paulidor, and Yann Axel Mpaga. 2018. 'Sliding Doors: Strategic Ambiguity in Study Visas to South Africa'. Studies in Higher Education 43 (11). Taylor & Francis: 1979–1992.
- Leun, Joanne Van Der. 2006. 'Excluding Illegal Migrants in The Netherlands: Between National Policies and Local Implementation'. West European Politics 29 (2): 310–326. doi:10.1080/01402380500512650.
- Liberati, Alessandro, Douglas G. Altman, Jennifer Tetzlaff, Cynthia Mulrow, Peter C. Gøtzsche, John P.A. Ioannidis, Mike Clarke, P.J. Devereaux, Jos Kleijnen, and David Moher. 2009. 'The PRISMA Statement for Reporting Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Studies That Evaluate Health Care Interventions: Explanation and Elaboration'. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 62 (10): e1–e34. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006.
- Lipsky, Michael. 1980. Street-Level Bureaucracy: Dilemmas of the Individual in Public Services.
   Publications of Russell Sage Foundation. New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Magalhães, Bruno. 2018. 'Obviously without Foundation: Discretion and the Identification of Clearly Abusive Asylum Applicants'. *Security Dialogue* 49 (5): 382–399. doi:10.1177/0967010618783640.
- Martin, Lauren. 2011. 'The Geopolitics of Vulnerability: Children's Legal Subjectivity,
   Immigrant Family Detention and US Immigration Law and Enforcement Policy'. Gender, Place & Culture: A Journal of Feminist Geography 18 (4): 477–498.
   doi:10.1080/0966369X.2011.583345.
- Maynard-Moody, Steven, and Michael Musheno. 2003. *Cops, Teachers, Counselors: Stories from the Front Lines of Public Service*. University of Michigan Press. doi:10.3998/mpub.11924.
- McNally, Rachel, and Nadeea Rahim. 2020. 'How Global Is the Journal of Refugee Studies?'
   LERRN: The Local Engagement Refugee Research Network. https://carleton.ca/lerrn/2020/how-global-is-the-journal-of-refugee-studies/.
- Meloni, Francesca, Cécile Rousseau, Alexandra Ricard-Guay, and Jill Hanley. 2017. 'Invisible Students: Institutional Invisibility and Access to Education for Undocumented Children'.
   International Journal of Migration, Health and Social Care. Emerald Publishing Limited.
- Meyers, Marcia K., and Susan Vorsanger. 2003. 'Street-Level Bureaucrats and the Implementation of Public Policy'. In *Handbook of Public Administration*, edited by B. Guy Peters and Jon Pierre. London: SAGE Publications.

- Meyers, Marcia, and Vibeke Nielsen. 2012. 'Street-Level Bureaucrats and the Implementation of Public Policy'. In *The SAGE Handbook of Public Administration*, 305–318. 1 Oliver's Yard, 55 City Road, London EC1Y 1SP United Kingdom: SAGE Publications Ltd. http://sk.sagepub.com/reference/the-sage-handbook-of-public-administration-2e/n20.xml.
- Miaz, Jonathan. 2017. 'From the Law to the Decision: The Social and Legal Conditions of Asylum Adjudication in Switzerland'. *European Policy Analysis* 3 (2): 372–396. doi:10.1002/epa2.1018.
- Moffette, David. 2014. 'Governing Immigration through Probation: The Displacement of Borderwork and the Assessment of Desirability in Spain'. Security Dialogue 45 (3): 262–278. doi:10.1177/0967010614530457.
- Molnar, Petra. 2017. 'Discretion to Deport: Intersections between Health and Detention of Syrian Refugees in Jordan'. *Refuge* (0229-5113) 33 (2): 18–31. doi:10.7202/1043060ar.
- Mountz, Alison. 2020. The Death of Asylum: Hidden Geographies of the Enforcement Archipelago. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Mourad, Lama. 2017. "Standoffish" Policy-Making: Inaction and Change in the Lebanese Response to the Syrian Displacement Crisis'. *Middle East Law and Governance* 9 (3). Brill: 249–266. doi:10.1163/18763375-00903005.
- Ní Raghallaigh, Muireann, and Liam Thornton. 2017. 'Vulnerable Childhood, Vulnerable
  Adulthood: Direct Provision as Aftercare for Aged-out Separated Children Seeking Asylum in
  Ireland'. Critical Social Policy 37 (3). Sage Publications Sage UK: London, England: 386–404.
- Okkonen, Ida, and Tuomo Takala. 2019. 'Managers' Moral Struggle: A Case Study on Ethical Dilemmas and Ethical Decision-Making in the Context of Immigration'. *Ethics and Social Welfare* 13 (4). Taylor & Francis: 392–408.
- Ottosson, Lisa, Marita Eastmond, and Isabell Schierenbeck. 2013. 'Safeguarding a Child Perspective in Asylum Reception: Dilemmas of Children's Case Workers in Sweden'. *Journal of Refugee Studies* 26 (2): 247–264. doi:10.1093/jrs/fes024.
- Parmar, Alpar. 2018. 'Policing Belonging: Race and Nation in the UK'. In *Race, Criminal Justice, and Migration Control: Enforcing the Boundaries of Belonging*, edited by Mary Bosworth, Alpa Parmar, and Yolanda Vázquez, 108–126. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.
- Pedersen, Mogens Jin, Justin M Stritch, and Frederik Thuesen. 2018. 'Punishment on the Frontlines of Public Service Delivery: Client Ethnicity and Caseworker Sanctioning Decisions in a Scandinavian Welfare State'. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 28 (3): 339–354. doi:10.1093/jopart/muy018.

- Persdotter, Maria. 2019. 'Free to Move Along: On the Urbanisation of Cross-Border Mobility Controls - A Case of Roma "EU Migrants" in Malmö, Sweden'. Dissertation, Malmö: Malmö University. doi:10.24834/isbn.9789178770328.
- Piñeiro, Esteban, Martina Koch, and Nathalie Pasche. 2019. 'Un/Doing Ethnicity in Intervening Swiss Street-Level Bureaucracy. A Police Service and a Child Welfare Service an Ethnographic Perspective'. Swiss Journal of Sociology 45 (1): 35–55. doi:10.2478/sjs-2019-0003.
- Poertner, Ephraim. 2017. 'Governing Asylum through Configurations of Productivity and Deterrence: Effects on the Spatiotemporal Trajectories of Cases in Switzerland'. *Geoforum* 78 (January): 12–21. doi:10.1016/j.geoforum.2016.11.004.
- Power, Michael. 1997. The Audit Society: Rituals of Verification. OUP Oxford.
- Pratt, Anna. 2010. 'Between a Hunch and a Hard Place: Making Suspicion Reasonable at the Canadian Border'. Social & Legal Studies 19 (4): 461–480. doi:10.1177/0964663910378434.
- Pratt, Anna C. 1999. 'Dunking the Doughnut: Discretionary Power, Law and the Administration of the Canadian Immigration Act'. *Social & Legal Studies* 8 (2). SAGE Publications Ltd: 199–226. doi:10.1177/096466399900800203.
- Provine, Doris Marie, Monica Varsanyi, Paul George Lewis, and Scott H. Decker. 2016. *Policing Immigrants: Local Law Enforcement on the Front Lines*. The Chicago Series in Law and Society. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Romero, Mary. 2006. 'Racial Profiling and Immigration Law Enforcement: Rounding up of Usual Suspects in the Latino Community'. *Critical Sociology* 32 (2–3). Sage Publications Sage UK: London, England: 447–473.
- Rosenberger, Sieglinde, and Alexandra König. 2012. 'Welcoming the Unwelcome: The Politics of Minimum Reception Standards for Asylum Seekers in Austria'. *Journal of Refugee Studies* 25 (4). Oxford University Press: 537–554.
- Sabbe, Mathias, Stéphane Moyson, and Nathalie Schiffino. 2020. 'Citizen-agency versus Stateagency at the Frontline in Prisons and Probation Services: A Systematic Literature Review'. Social Policy & Administration, August, spol.12633. doi:10.1111/spol.12633.
- Saltsman, Adam. 2014. 'Beyond the Law: Power, Discretion, and Bureaucracy in the Management of Asylum Space in Thailand'. *Journal of Refugee Studies* 27 (3): 457–476. doi:10.1093/jrs/feu004.
- Sassen, Saskia. 1996. 'Beyond Sovereignty: Immigration Policy Making Today'. Social Justice 23 (3 (65): 9–20.
- Satzewich, Vic. 2014a. 'Canadian Visa Officers and the Social Construction of "Real" Spousal Relationships'. Canadian Review of Sociology 51 (1): 1–21. doi:10.1111/cars.12031.

- Satzewich, Vic. 2014b. 'Visa Officers as Gatekeepers of a State's Borders: The Social Determinants of Discretion in Spousal Sponsorship Cases in Canada'. *Journal of Ethnic & Migration Studies* 40 (9): 1450–1469. doi:10.1080/1369183X.2013.854162.
- Satzewich, Vic. 2015. 'Is Immigrant Selection in Canada Racialized? Visa Officer Discretion and Approval Rates for Spousal and Federal Skilled Worker Applications'. *Journal of International Migration & Integration* 16 (4): 1023–1040. doi:10.1007/s12134-014-0390-0.
- Sipos, Michal. 2019. 'Informal Practices and the Street-Level Construction of Migrant Deportability: Chechen Refugees and Local Authorities in Polish Accommodation Centres for Asylum Seekers'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 45 (7). Taylor & Francis: 1168–1184.
- Slaven, Mike, and Christina Boswell. 2018. 'Why Symbolise Control? Irregular Migration to the UK and Symbolic Policy-Making in the 1960s'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 0 (0): 1–19. doi:10.1080/1369183X.2018.1459522.
- Soysal, Yasemin Nuhoglu. 1994. Limits of Citizenship: Migrants and Postnational Membership in Europe. University of Chicago Press.
- Spire, Alexis. 2020. 'Discretionary Power as a Political Weapon against Foreigners'. Etikk i Praksis Nordic Journal of Applied Ethics, no. 2 (December): 89–106. doi:10.5324/eip.v14i2.3479.
- Sredanovic, Djordje. 2020. 'Barriers to the Equal Treatment of (Aspirant) Citizens: The Case of the Application of Nationality Law in Belgium'. *International Migration* 58 (2). Wiley Online Library: 15–29.
- Svensson, Malin. 2019. 'Compensating for Conflicting Policy Goals: Dilemmas of Teachers'
   Work with Asylum-Seeking Pupils in Sweden'. Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research
   63 (1). Taylor & Francis: 1–16.
- Thomas, Robert. 2011. *Administrative Justice and Asylum Appeals: A Study of Tribunal Adjudication*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Triandafyllidou, Anna. 2003. 'Immigration Policy Implementation in Italy: Organisational Culture, Identity Processes and Labour Market Control'. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 29 (2). Taylor & Francis: 257–297.
- Tummers, Lars L. G., Victor Bekkers, Evelien Vink, and Michael Musheno. 2015. 'Coping During Public Service Delivery: A Conceptualization and Systematic Review of the Literature'. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory* 25 (4): 1099–1126. doi:10.1093/jopart/muu056.

- van der Woude, Maartje, and Joanne van der Leun. 2017. 'Crimmigration Checks in the Internal Border Areas of the EU: Finding the Discretion That Matters'. *European Journal of Criminology* 14 (1): 27–45. doi:10.1177/1477370816640139.
- van Oorschot, Irene. 2021. The Law Multiple: Judgment and Knowledge in Practice. Cambridge Studies in Law and Society. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781108859981.
- Vargas-Silva, Carlos. 2019. 'Does the Gap in Migration Research between High-Income Countries and the Rest of the World Matter?' COMPAS, Oxford.
   https://www.compas.ox.ac.uk/2019/does-the-gap-in-migration-research-between-high-income-countries-and-the-rest-of-the-world-matter/.
- Vetters, Larissa. 2022. 'Making Sense of Noncitizens' Rights Claims in Asylum Appeal
  Hearings: Practices and Sentiments of Procedural Justice among German Administrative Judges'.

  Citizenship Studies 0 (0). Routledge: 1–17. doi:10.1080/13621025.2022.2137940.
- Volckmar-Eeg, Maria Gussgard, and Anders Vassenden. 2022. 'Emotional Creaming: Street-level Bureaucrats' Prioritisation of Migrant Clients "Likely to Succeed" in Labour Market Integration'. *International Journal of Social Welfare* 31 (2): 165–175. doi:10.1111/ijsw.12510.
- Watkins-Hayes, Celeste. 2009. The New Welfare Bureaucrats: Entanglements of Race, Class, and Policy Reform. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Wayne, Cornelius, Takeyuki Tsuda, James Hollifield, and Phillip Martin, eds. 2004. Controlling Immigration: A Global Perspective. Stanford University Press.
- Weber, Leanne. 2003. 'Down That Wrong Road: Discretion in Decisions to Detain Asylum Seekers Arriving at UK Ports'. *The Howard Journal of Criminal Justice* 42 (3): 248–262. doi:10.1111/1468-2311.00281.
- Yeo, Jungwon, and Xi Huang. 2020. 'Migration in Public Administration Research: A Systematic Review and Future Directions'. *International Journal of Public Administration* 43 (2). Routledge: 176–187. doi:10.1080/01900692.2019.1672731.
- Zacka, Bernardo. 2016. 'Adhocracy, Security and Responsibility: Revisiting Abu Ghraib a Decade Later.', Contemporary Political Theory, 15 (1): 38–57.
- Zacka, Bernardo. 2017. When the State Meets the Street. Public Service and Moral Agency.
   Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Zatz, Marjorie S., and Nancy Rodriguez. 2014. 'The Limits of Discretion: Challenges and Dilemmas of Prosecutorial Discretion in Immigration Enforcement'. Law & Social Inquiry 39 (3): 666–689. doi:10.1111/lsi.12083.